FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
9/3/2020 1:07 PM
98989-3

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/3/2020
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 53415-1-II No. 53430-4-II (CONSOLIDATED)

# IN THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

# FREEDOM FOUNDATION,

Petitioner,

v.

# BETHEL SCHOOL DISTRICT, and the WASHINGTON STATE PUBLIC DISCLOSURE COMMISSION

Respondents.

# PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

Robert A. Bouvatte, Jr., WSBA #50220 P.O. Box 552, Olympia, WA 98507 p. 360.956.3482 | f. 360.352.1874 RBouvatte@freedomfoundation.com

Attorney for Petitioner, Freedom Foundation

# **

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
II. DECISION BELOW
III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
V. ARGUMENT5
A. Introduction & Summary of Argument
B.The Opinion is In Direct Conflict with the <i>Utter</i> Regime
1. The Opinion All But Disregards Utter, Which Has Great
Significance for Interpreting the Amended FCPA7
2. If the Opinion Is Correct That Utter Has Been
Superseded, Interpretation of the Statute is a Question
of Great Public Interest
C. Whether Citizens Can Seek Judicial Review of PDC
Decisions is Another Question of Great Public Interest
1. The Order of Dismissal Was an "Agency Action"
"Specifically Directed" to the Foundation
2. The Foundation Was Permitted to Participate "As a
Party" in the Agency "Proceedings."
D. The Opinion Conflicts with Numerous Published Decisions
in Failing to Recognize the Foundation's Competitive Harm 15
VI CONCLUSION 17

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

CasesPages
Association of Data Processing Svc. Orgs. v. Camp, 397 U.S. 150 (1970)
Baker v. Carr, 369 U.S. 186 (1962)
Den Beste v. Pollution Control Hrgs. Bd., 81 Wn. App. 330, 914 P.2d
144 (1996)
Homestreet, Inc. v. Dept. of Revenue, 166 Wn.2d 444, 210 P.3d 297
(2009)
In re Adoption of T.A.W., 184 Wn.2d 1040, 387 P.3d 636 (2016) 12
<i>In re Arnold</i> , 189 Wn.2d 1023, 408 P.3d 1091 (2017);
<i>In re Flippo</i> , 185 Wn.2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413 (2016)
Jin Zhu v. North Cent. Educ. Svc. DistESD 71, 189 Wn.2d 607, 404
P.3d 504 (2017)
Rublee v. Carrier Corp., 192 Wn.2d 190, 428 P.3d 1207 (2018) 12
Seattle Bldg. & Const. Trades Council v. Apprenticeship and Training
Council, 129 Wn.2d 787 P.2d 581 (1996)
Seeber v. Washington State Public Disclosure Commission, 96 Wn.2d
135, 634 P.2d 303 (1981)
Snohomish County Public Transportation Benefit Area v. Public
Employment Relations Commission, 173 Wn. App. 504 P.3d 803
(2013)
St. Joseph Hospital and Health Care Center v. Dept. of Health, 125
Wn.2d 733 P.2d 891 (1995)
State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005)
Strain v. West Travel, Inc., 117 Wn. App. 251, 70 P.3d 158 (2003) 10
Technical Employees Association v. Public Employment Relations
Commission, 105 Wn. App. 434, 20 P.3d 472 (2001)
Timberline Air Svc., Inc. v. Bell Helicopter-Textron, Inc., 125 Wn.2d
305, 884 P.2d 920 (1994)
U.S. v. Students Challenging Regulatory Agency Procedures ("SCRAP"),
412 U.S. 669 (1973)
Utter v. Building Industry Association of Washington, 182 Wn.2d 398
(2015)

# Statutes 16 RCW 34.05.001 13, 14 RCW 34.05.530 15, 16 RCW 42.17A 1, 3 RCW 42.17A.555 3 RCW 42.17A.755 8, 10, 11 RCW 42.17A.775 3, 8, 11 WAC 390-37-060 10, 11 Rules RAP 13.4 passim

# I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER.

Petitioner, Freedom Foundation (the "Foundation"), was the Plaintiff in two (2) actions at the trial court level, which were consolidated for purposes of appeal, and asks this Court to review the Court of Appeals' published decision set forth in Part II, which essentially negates all "citizen's actions" lawsuits for those who disagree with the state's interpretation and implementation of the Fair Campaign Practices Act.

# II. DECISION BELOW.

Division Two of the Court of Appeals published its opinion on August 4, 2020, *see* **Appendix A**, Published Opinion in Consolidated Case Nos. 53415-1-II and 53430-4-II ("Op." or the "Opinion"), finding: (i) that the Foundation's citizen's action was barred as a result of the 2018 amendments to the Fair Campaign Practices Act, RCW ch. 42.17A (the "FCPA"), because Public Disclosure Commission staff summarily dismissed the Foundation's complaint that Respondents were violating the FCPA; (ii) that the Foundation did not have standing under the Administrative Procedure Act (the "APA") to seek judicial review of the dismissal of its administrative complaint by the Washington State Public Disclosure Commission (the "PDC"), because it was not a "party" to the PDC proceedings; and (iii) that the Foundation did not have APA standing arising from injury to its competitive interests as a result of the PDC's dismissal. The Foundation timely submits the instant petition for discretionary review.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All subsequent references to the Appendix in support of the instant Petition, being filed contemporaneously herewith, shall be in the format "App. \_\_\_\_."

# III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

The following issues merit Supreme Court review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2), as conflicting with the decisions of this Court and of the Court of Appeals, and RAP 13.4(b)(4), as presenting issues of substantial public interest:

- 1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in ruling that under the 2018 amendments to the FCPA, a citizen's action lawsuit is available *only* if the PDC fails to take *any* action, which disqualifying action includes staff administrative dismissal of a complaint, within ninety (90) days of receiving an administrative complaint?
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in ruling that the Foundation lacked standing to seek APA review of the PDC's dismissal, because it was not a "party" as defined by the APA?
- 3. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in ruling that the Foundation lacked standing to seek APA review of the PDC's dismissal, because it did not suffer an "injury in fact" to its competitive interests?

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

This Petition is to preserve the citizen's action lawsuit, an integral part of campaign practices regulation since adoption by voters in the 1972 Initiative No. 134. In 2015, this Court held the purpose was to provide citizens with an avenue to challenge the state's interpretation of campaign practices law. The PDC now seeks to eviscerate the citizen's suit, based on 2018 amendments which never suggested such an intent.

The Freedom Foundation filed two (2) companion cases comprising the instant matter.<sup>2</sup> The factual basis underlying each case was that

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Foundation initially attempted to bring both claims in a single lawsuit, but the Clerk refused to accept a single lawsuit including both claims. Pursuant to the FCPA, the

Respondent Bethel School District violated the FCPA, and the PDC staff simply was wrong when interpreting the substantive statute improperly to dismiss and/or dispose of the Freedom Foundation's administrative complaint. See CP, at 318-320.<sup>3</sup> One case was a citizen's action brought pursuant to RCW 42.17A.775 (App. B), in which the Foundation contended that the Defendant, Bethel, had been unlawfully using its taxpayer-funded facilities to collect money for political committees, by utilizing school district employees to set up and use district machines and equipment for payroll systems during work hours, and then knowingly sending the money to political committees – thereby directly and indirectly assisting political campaigns and ballot propositions. See Citizen's Action Complaint for Civil Penalties and Injunctive Relief for Past and Ongoing Violations of Chapter 42.17A RCW (the "Citizen's Action Complaint") (CP 001). There is no dispute Bethel did so and does so; the issue is whether in so supporting a political committee Bethel violates RCW 42.17A.555.<sup>4</sup>

The second case arises from a determination by the PDC that the Foundation's allegations (as set forth herein) did not constitute an FCPA violation, and the PDC's resulting dismissal of the Foundation's administrative complaint. The substance of the PDC's determination, as

-

Citizen's Action Complaint (CP, at 001) below was filed on October 9, 2018, and given Case No. 18-2-05084-34. The same day, Freedom Foundation filed a second action under the Administrative Procedures Act, which was given Case No. 18-2-05092-34 (the "APA Petition") (CP, at 216).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> All references to the Clerk's Papers compiled for purposes of the appeal shall appear in the form "CP, at xxx," with the exception of those references to the Certified Appeal Board Record from the PDC, compiled as part of the Clerk's Papers, which shall appear in the form "WSPDC xxxx."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "<u>No</u> elective official nor any employee of his or her office nor any <u>person</u> appointed to or <u>employed by any public</u> office or <u>agency may use</u> or authorize the use of <u>any of the facilities of a public office or agency, directly or indirectly, for the purpose of assisting a campaign for election of any person to any office or for the promotion of or opposition to <u>any ballot proposition. Facilities</u> of a public office or agency <u>include</u>, <u>but are not limited to, use of stationery, postage, machines, and equipment, use of employees of the office or agency during working hours, vehicles, office space…"(emphasis added).</u></u>

reflected in its correspondence dated September 10, 2018, states: "Staff has determined that in this instance, no evidence supports a finding of a material violation warranting further investigation. The PDC has closed the matter, and will not be conducting a more formal investigation into your complaint or pursuing further enforcement action in this case." See CP, at 264 (emphasis added). From this disposition, it is clear only that the PDC declined to take any action against Bethel, which, as discussed *infra*, is the only relevant question for whether a citizen's action remains available. The Foundation sought review of this dismissal by way of an APA Petition.

The Thurston County clerk assigned the two (2) lawsuits to different judges, who considered the APA Petition first. The PDC moved to dismiss the APA Petition, arguing that the Foundation lacked standing to seek judicial review under the APA. CP, at 236-37. Bethel adopted the arguments set forth by the PDC in its motion to dismiss, in addition to asserting arguments that the District had not violated the FCPA and that the 2018 amendments did away with a citizen's action in these circumstances. CP, at 248, 257. Judge Price granted the motion to dismiss as to the PDC. CP, at 412. Judge Price later granted Bethel's motion for summary judgment, but only on the standing grounds initially asserted by the PDC. See CP, at 442-443. Bethel also asserted those separate grounds in support of summary judgment in the Citizen's Action Complaint, however. CP, at 036. Judge Murphy granted summary judgment in favor of Bethel, without specifying with particularity the grounds upon which the court relied. CP, at 200.

The Foundation filed timely appeals in both cases: on April 1, 2019, in the APA Petition, and on April 30, 2019, in the Citizen's Action Complaint. Following the parties' submission of their briefing, the Court of

Appeals reviewed the matter and determined that it would be set for consideration on July 1, 2020, without oral argument. The Court of Appeals then issued its Opinion that is the subject of this Petition on August 4, 2020.

### V. ARGUMENT.

# A. Introduction & Summary of Argument.

Petitioner respectfully requests this Court review Division Two's Opinion because it is in conflict with decisions of this Court, as well as of the Court of Appeals, and because this case involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the highest court of this state. See RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2), (b)(4).

It is immediately apparent that the Opinion is in conflict with this Court's decision in *Utter v. Building Industry Association of Washington*, 182 Wn.2d 398 (2015) ("Utter"), because the Opinion departs from the axiomatic understanding of the FCPA citizen's action as reflected in *Utter* - the entire point of the citizen's action was, and remains, to provide an avenue for questioning the decisions of the state government and bringing suit against FCPA violators when government officials "decline[] to sue." See Utter, 182 Wn.2d at 412. The Opinion conflicts with this salutary notion, which enjoys ongoing vitality notwithstanding amendments to the citizen's action provision.

The Court of Appeals, however, appears to believe that the 2018 FCPA amendments so fundamentally changed the principles on which the citizen's action provision was passed, that the mere action of informing the parties it will take no action is sufficient to prevent the citizen complainant from proceeding. See Opinion, at p. 9 (App. A) ("Now, the PDC must fail to take action, including dismissal, within 90 days of receiving a complaint before a citizen's action may be filed."). If this is to be the law, which is not PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW -

at all apparent from the statutory language, such a sea-change deserves a more comprehensive and conclusive supporting analysis than that in which the Court of Appeals engaged. *See id.* ("The plain language of the 2018 amendments to the FCPA are clear."). As such, if the Opinion does not warrant discretionary review as being in conflict with *Utter* (*see* RAP 13.4(b)(1)), it alternatively warrants review because such a significant departure from the previous framework of the FCPA is a question of momentous public importance, and one of first impression (*see* RAP 13.4(b)(4)).

The Court of Appeals' rulings as to standing also present grounds for discretionary review, under either of the foregoing prongs of RAP 13.4(b), as well as under RAP 13.4(b)(2). If staff dismissal is a sufficient action to preclude a citizen's suit, then whether that decision was based on a correct interpretation of campaign practices law should be subject to review under the Administrative Procedures Act.

First, whether an administrative complainant is to be considered a "party" under the APA, in the circumstances here, is a substantially important public question, because if the Court of Appeals is correct as to the meaning of the FCPA, the APA is left as the only avenue for the PDC's applications of the Statute to be subject to some meaningful check. It simply cannot be that the PDC has unilateral authority to ignore admitted FCPA violations, with no scrutiny via judicial review. Additionally, the effect of the Opinion is in conflict with the Court of Appeals' decisions in *Technical Employees Association v. Public Employment Relations Commission*, 105 Wn. App. 434, 439-40, 20 P.3d 472 (2001) and *Den Beste v. Pollution Control Hrgs. Bd.*, 81 Wn. App. 330, 339, 914 P.2d 144 (1996). Both of

those opinions employed a broader notion of "party" status under the APA.

Second, the aspects of the Opinion dealing with "competitive harm" (see Opinion, at pp. 13-14 (App. A)) are in conflict with the decisions of the Court of Appeals in Snohomish County Public Transportation Benefit Area v. Public Employment Relations Commission, 173 Wn. App. 504, 294 P.3d 803 (2013), as well as the decisions of the Supreme Court in St. Joseph Hospital and Health Care Center v. Dept. of Health, 125 Wn.2d 733, 887 P.2d 891 (1995) and Seattle Bldg. & Const. Trades Council v. Apprenticeship and Training Council, 129 Wn.2d 787, 902 P.2d 581 (1996). Those opinions recognized that an injury-in-fact need not be immediate or economic in nature, and found standing in circumstances indistinguishable from those here.

As such, discretionary review is appropriate because both RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(4) provide for review of the Court of Appeals' interpretation of the FCPA, and because RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2) and (b)(4) all provide for discretionary review of its rulings on APA standing.

# B. The Opinion is In Direct Conflict with the *Utter* Regime.

1. The Opinion All But Disregards Utter, Which Has Great Significance for Interpreting the Amended FCPA.

First, it is apparent that the Opinion is predicated on the notion that *Utter* is no longer good law, following the 2018 amendments to the FCPA citizen's action. *See* Opinion, at p. 9 (**App. A**) ("*Utter* was decided before the 2018 amendments and is not helpful in construing the new language."). While those amendments did effectuate significant revisions to other aspects of the citizen's action provision, they did not displace the time-honored principles of checks and balances that were reflected in *Utter*, nor did they change the significance of the word "action" as used in the statute.

The *Utter* case dealt with a citizen's action complaint filed by former justices of the Supreme Court against the Building Industry Association of Washington ("BIAW"), as well as an affiliated entity, BIAW-MSC. Utter, 182 Wn.2d at 405. The PDC conducted an investigation, which concluded BIAW was not a political committee and was not sued; this presented the Court with the question whether the PDC's investigation constituted an "action" so as to preclude the citizen-plaintiffs from maintaining their action. See id., at 407 ("Thus, according to the Court of Appeals, where the AG refers for investigation or investigates a complaint, the notice-giving citizen may not sue even if the AG declines to sue."). This Court held that informal step by the government did not constitute a preclusive "action," which was interpreted to refer to a lawsuit. See id., at 409. Further, the opinion was not predicated solely upon linguistic analysis, or the arrangement of words in the former statute. <sup>5</sup> To the contrary, the Court gave effect to underlying concerns that had animated passage of the citizen's action provision in the first place. In relevant part, it held

Thus, if the Court of Appeals' interpretation were correct, the PDC – a government agency – would unilaterally bar all citizen suits for violation of Title 42 RCW just by investigating. The voters cannot possibly have intended to create a citizen's right to sue when the government will not but allow the government to bar every one of those suits with a procedural quirk.

Utter, 182 Wn.2d at 410 (emphasis added).

The irony is that, if the Court of Appeals' interpretation is correct here, the procedural "quirk" that precludes citizen suits will be the mere sending of a dismissal letter, whether or not following such an investigation,

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW -

8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The current RCW 42.17A.775 (**App. B**) uses similar language, however, when it provides that a citizen's action "may be brought and prosecuted only if ...[t]he commission has not taken <u>action</u> authorized under RCW 42.17A.755(1) within ninety days of the complaint being filed with the commission." (emphasis added)

indicating that no "action" will be taken. *See* Opinion, at p. 8 (**App. A**) ("Here, the PDC dismissed Freedom Foundation's complaint when it 'closed the matter' and did not conduct a formal investigation."). But the Supreme Court has already interpreted the intent of the voters in initially passing the initiative that resulted in the citizen's action provision, and found it inconsistent with such a result: "Moreover, <u>BIAW's interpretation</u> would defeat the purpose of providing for citizen suits in the first place, because the AG likely declines to sue in exactly those instances where the <u>PDC investigation concludes that no violation occurred</u>. The statute is obviously based on the notion that the government may be wrong, and then it is up to citizens to expose the violation." *See Utter*, at 411 (emphasis added). As such, to read the amendments to the FCPA as endorsing that very outcome presents an irreconcilable conflict with *Utter*.

2. If the Opinion Is Correct That Utter Has Been Superseded, Interpretation of the Statute is a Question of Great Public Interest.

It is plain to see that the Court of Appeals' Opinion is predicated upon its apparent belief that the 2018 FCPA amendments foreclose a citizen's action here. *See* Opinion, at p. 9 (**App. A**) ("Now, the PDC must fail to take action, including dismissal, within 90 days of receiving a complaint before a citizen's action may be filed."). It is rather curious, then, that the Court of Appeals declined to engage in any significant analysis of the statutory language, holding only that "...by the plain language of RCW 42.17A.775, Freedom Foundation does not meet the prerequisites for filing a citizen's action because the PDC acted timely on the complaint [and]...The plain language of the 2018 amendments to the FCPA are clear." *Id.*, at pp. 8-9.

As argued in the Court of Appeals, however, there is (at the very least) a reasonable reading of RCW 42.17A.755(1)(a) (App. C) that requires a dismissal to be treated the same as other resolutions of minor FCPA violations, instead of reading "otherwise" to mean "alternatively" – that is not the meaning with which it is used in the general language of subsection (1). See Timberline Air Svc., Inc. v. Bell Helicopter-Textron, *Inc.*, 125 Wn.2d 305, 313, 884 P.2d 920 (1994).<sup>6</sup> If the Court of Appeals' interpretation were the intended meaning, the statute could have simply left out this word entirely, in favor of the disjunctive word "or" that would accomplish that same purpose. See Homestreet, Inc. v. Dept. of Revenue, 166 Wn.2d 444, 452, 210 P.3d 297 (2009). Instead, it appears the word "otherwise" was included specifically to denote that a dismissal was included among other ways the PDC could "...resolve the matter in accordance with subsection (2)." See, e.g., Jin Zhu v. North Cent. Educ. Svc. Dist.-ESD 71, 189 Wn.2d 607, 620, 404 P.3d 504 (2017); see also Strain v. West Travel, Inc., 117 Wn. App. 251, 254-57, 70 P.3d 158 (2003).

Taking the language of subsection (1)(a) in the context of the entire Section 755, it is clear that if the Legislature had intended dismissal to be a stand-alone option, it would have devoted a separate subsection to it. Instead, it grouped dismissals with other resolutions under subsection (2) – which allows the PDC to "delegate authority" for dismissals and other resolutions to its director if such authority is consistently applied.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> "When the same words are used in different parts of the same statute, it is presumed that the Legislature intended that the words have the same meaning."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> "Whenever possible, statutes are to be construed so no clause, sentence or word shall be superfluous, void, or insignificant." (citations and internal quotations omitted).

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