FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/4/2020 2:55 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98989-3 Court of Appeals No. 53415-1-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FREEDOM FOUNDATION,

Petitioner,

v.

BETHEL SCHOOL DISTRICT, and the WASHINGTON STATE PUBLIC DISCLOSURE COMMISSION,

Respondents.

ANSWER OF RESPONDENT BETHEL SCHOOL DISTRICT TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

VANDEBERG JOHNSON & GANDARA, LLP

William A. Coats, WSBA #4608 Daniel C. Montopoli, WSBA #26217 Attorneys for Respondent Bethel School District

1201 Pacific Avenue, Suite 1900 P. O. Box 1315 Tacoma, WA 98401-1315 Telephone: (253) 383-3791

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

V. ARGUMENT FOR DENYING REVIEW

A. Review should not be granted because the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the superior court dismissals

The Foundation's petition seeks discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2) and (b)(4). Pet. at 7. Because the opinion of the

7

⁶ The Foundation moved to consolidate the appeals filed in Cause Nos. 18-2-05084-34 and 18-2-05092-34, and the Court of Appeals consolidated them under Cause No. 53415-1-II.

Court of Appeals is not in conflict with decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals, and because it does not concern an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court, review should be denied.

B. The Standard for Review Is De Novo.

An appellate court reviews a summary judgment order de novo and engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Raynor*, 143 Wn.2d 469, 475, 21 P.3d 707 (2001). Issues of statutory interpretation are also reviewed de novo. *State v. Evans*, 177 Wn.2d 186, 191, 298 P.3d 724 (2013). Statutory interpretation aims to "to determine and give effect to the intent of the legislature." *Id.* at 192 (citation omitted). If possible, a court derives "legislative intent solely from the plain language enacted by the legislature, considering the text of the provision in question, the context of the statute in which the provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole." *Id.*

C. The Court of Appeals Correctly Held that the Foundation Lacked Standing in Both Actions.

1. The Foundation lacked standing to file a citizen's suit.

Prior to 2018, the "citizen suit provision of the FCPA" permitted "citizens to file a 'citizen action' alleging violations of the act if they give notice of a violation in writing to the [Attorney General] and the AG 'fail[s] to commence an action hereunder." *Utter ex rel. State v. Bldg. Indus. Ass'n of Wash.*, 182 Wn.2d 398, 405, 341 P.3d 953 (2015) (citing RCW

42.17A.765(4)(a)(i)). Under the FCPA in effect at that time, a citizen could file suit in superior court alleging a violation of the FCPA if the Attorney General failed to file a lawsuit within 45 days of receiving notice of an alleged violation of the FCPA. *Utter*, 188 Wn.2d at 412.

In 2018, however, the legislature passed Engrossed Substitute House Bill 2938,⁷ which amended the FCPA. CP 20, 25-29. ESHB 2938 deleted RCW 42.17A.765(4)(a)(i) and inserted a new section, RCW 42.17A.775, that now governs citizen suits. CP 20, 26-29. The amendments to the FCPA became effective on June 7, 2018, which is 13 days before the Foundation filed its complaint with the PDC. CP 23.

Under the revised FCPA, citizens may sue only if the PDC "has not taken action" within 90 days of receiving a complaint. RCW 42.17A.775(2). The "action" taken by the PDC includes dismissing the complaint after a preliminary review. RCW 42.17A.755(1)(a); Op. at 7.

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly held that the plain language of RCW 42.17A.755 and RCW 42.17A.775 prohibits the Foundation from bringing "a citizen's action following the PDC's timely dismissal of its complaint." Op. at 7. Because the PDC acted timely upon the Foundation's

9

⁷ The full text of Engrossed Substitute House Bill 2938 may be found at http://lawfilesext.leg.wa.gov/biennium/2017-18/Pdf/Bills/Session%20Laws/House/2938-S.SL.pdf

complaint, the Foundation "does not meet the perquisites for filing a citizen's action." Op. at 8.

Faced with the Court of Appeals' straightforward interpretation of the plain language of the revised FCPA, the Foundation offers a convoluted version of the amended FCPA. Pet. at 7-13. In the process, the Foundation continues to rely on *Utter*. Pet. at 7-9. As the Court of Appeals notes, however, *Utter* was decided before the FCPA was amended and, as a result, it "is not helpful in construing" the amended FCPA. Op. at 9. Like the Court of Appeals, this Court should reject the Foundation's strained interpretation of the FCPA and its misplaced reliance on *Utter*.

Here, the PDC dismissed the Foundation's complaint on September 10, 2018. CP 23-24. That date was 82 days after the PDC received the complaint.

Because the PDC dismissed the Foundation's complaint within 90 days, the Foundation lacked standing to bring a citizen's action. *See* RCW 42.17A.775(1). Because the Foundation lacked standing, the appellate court correctly affirmed the dismissal of the citizen's action.

2. The Foundation lacked standing to challenge the PDC's decision.

In affirming the trial court's decision, the Court of Appeals held that the Foundation lacked standing to pursue judicial review under the

Administrative Procedures Act. Op. at 9. The Court of Appeals held that the Foundation lacked standing because it was not a party to the PDC complaint and because it did not suffer specific and perceptible harm. *Id.* Because the Court of Appeals correctly held that the Foundation to challenge the PDC's decision, the petition for review should be denied.

While the Court of Appeals' affirmance of the trial courts decisions was based solely on standing grounds, summary judgment may be affirmed on any grounds supported by the record. *See Graff v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 113 Wn. App. 799, 802, 54 P.3d 1266 (2002). Here, there are additional grounds warranting the summary judgment dismissals of the Foundation's suits.

- D. The Petition Should Be Denied Because No Reasonable Trier of Fact Would Conclude that the District Violated the FCPA.
 - 1. Washington law requires a school district to make payroll deductions to a payee when authorized by at least ten percent of the district's employees.

Washington law requires school districts to make payroll deductions when these deductions are authorized by at least ten percent of its employees:

In addition to other deductions permitted by law, any person authorized to disburse funds in payment of salaries or wages to employees of school districts, **upon written** request of at least ten percent of the employees, shall make deductions as they authorize, subject to the limitations of district equipment or personnel. Any person authorized to disburse funds shall not be required to make other deductions for employees if fewer than ten percent of the employees make the request for the same payee. **Moneys**

so deducted shall be paid or applied monthly by the school district for the purposes specified by the employee. The employer may not derive any financial benefit from such deductions. ...

RCW 28A.405.400 (emphasis added). The statute is mandatory and does not give the District discretion unless less than ten percent of employees request the deduction, subject to any limitations in district equipment or personnel.

Of the District's 2800 employees, approximately 24 percent (680 employees) have requested payroll deductions be sent to the WEA-PAC as a payee, while approximately 17 percent (475 employees) have specified NEA-FCPE as payee. CP 16. Because more than ten percent of employees have specified the WEA PAC or the NEA-FCPE as payees, these deductions are mandatory under RCW 28A.405.400. These payroll deductions are processed monthly and are part of the normal and regular conduct of the District. CP 16 (¶ 3).

2. Activities which are part of the normal and regular conduct of the District are excluded from the FCPA's prohibition against using public facilities in campaigns.

The Foundation alleges that the District violated RCW 42.17A.555.

This statute prohibits the use of any facilities of a public agency in campaigns, but it does not apply to activities which are part of the normal and regular conduct of the agency:

No elective official nor any employee of his or her office nor any person appointed to or employed by any public office or agency may use or authorize the use of any of the facilities of a public office or agency, directly or indirectly, for the purpose of assisting a campaign for election of any person to any office or for the promotion of or opposition to any ballot proposition. Facilities of a public office or agency include, but are not limited to, use of stationery, postage, machines, and equipment, use of employees of the office or agency during working hours, vehicles, office space, publications of the office or agency, and clientele lists of persons served by the office or agency. However, this does not apply to the following activities:

...

(3) Activities which are part of the normal and regular conduct of the office or agency.

RCW 42.17A.555 (emphasis added). Because "'normal' and 'regular' are not statutorily defined, they should be given their ordinary meaning." *King Cty. Council v. Pub. Disclosure Com*, 93 Wn.2d 559, 561, 611 P.2d 1227 (1980).

In *King County Council*, the Washington Supreme Court held that the Council's endorsement of a ballot proposition did not violate the FCPA because the endorsement was part of the Council's normal and regular conduct. *King Cty Council*, 93 Wn.2d at 561-63. The conduct was "normal" because the Council had passed similar endorsements 13 times in the previous five years. *Id.* at 562. The endorsement was "regular" because it was lawful. *Id.* at 563 ("[W]e conclude the action of the council was lawful and therefore 'regular.").

Consistent with *King County Council*, state regulations define "normal and regular conduct" to include conduct that is authorized by state law:

Normal and regular conduct of a public office or agency, as that term is used in the proviso to RCW 42.17A.555, means conduct which is (1) **lawful**, i.e., specifically authorized, either expressly or by necessary implication, in an appropriate enactment, and (2) usual, i.e., not effected or authorized in or by some extraordinary means or manner. No local office or agency may authorize a use of public facilities for the purpose of assisting a candidate's campaign or promoting or opposing a ballot proposition, in the absence of a constitutional, charter, or *statutory provision separately authorizing such use*.

WAC 390-05-273 (emphasis added).

WEA-PAC and NEA-FCPE, a reasonable trier of fact would conclude that the processing of these deductions are part of the normal and regular conduct of the District. Because the processing of the deductions is part of the normal and regular conduct of the District, the District's actions do not violate RCW 42.17A.555.

3. The FCPA allows employers to process payroll deductions to political committees when authorized in writing by employees.

Washington law authorizes employers to withhold or divert a portion of an employee's wages for contributions to political committees upon the written authorization of the employee:

(3) No employer or other person or entity responsible for the disbursement of funds in payment of wages or salaries may withhold or divert a portion of an employee's wages or salaries for contributions to political committees or for use as political contributions except upon the written request of the employee. The request must be made on a form prescribed by the commission informing the employee of the prohibition against employer and labor organization discrimination described in subsection (2) of this section. The employee may revoke the request at any time. At least annually, the employee shall be notified about the right to revoke the request.

RCW 42.17A.495(emphasis added). To implement this statute, the PDC has issued a regulation, WAC 390-17-100, which contains the information that must appear on the form used for the withholding of wages for political contributions. The form used by the District complies with this regulation. CP 16, 18.

In a case involving several school districts, this Court upheld payroll deductions for the WEA, upon written authorization of school district employees, under the statute that is now codified as RCW 42.17A.495(3). State ex rel. Evergreen v. WEA, 140 Wn.2d 615, 618-19, 999 P.2d 602 (2000) ("[The Superior] court concluded that Respondent School Districts did not violate section 680(3) because WAC 390-17-100, the rule promulgated by the Public Disclosure Commission to implement the statute, is entitled to great weight and the School Districts have complied with it. We affirm.") In affirming the school districts' actions, the Supreme Court

accepted the school districts' status as an employer under the statute that is currently codified as RCW 42.17A.495(3). *See Evergreen*, 140 Wn.2d at 623. The *Evergreen* decision stands for the proposition that school districts may divert part of an employee's wages to a political committee, if it is done properly and in accordance with RCW 42.17A.495(3).

Here, the District, in its processing of payroll deductions, has acted in accordance with RCW 28A.405.400, RCW 42.17A.555, and RCW 42.17A.495.

As required by RCW 28A.405.400, the District allows employees to make payroll deductions to specific payees. CP 16 (¶ 4). Under this statute, such deductions are mandatory when at least ten percent of the employees specify the same payee. Because more than ten percent of employees have specified the WEA PAC or the NEA-FCPE, these deductions are mandatory under RCW 28A.405.400. The District's compliance with the statute provides proof that the processing of the deductions is part of the normal and regular conduct of the District.

Activities that are part of the normal and regular conduct of the District are excluded from the FCPA's prohibition against using public facilities in political campaigns. A reasonable trier of fact would find that the District's processing of hundreds of payroll deductions on monthly basis is part of the District's normal and regular conduct.

As authorized by RCW 42.17A.495, the District allows employees to make written requests for payroll deductions to political committees. CP 16 (¶ 2). The District's compliance with RCW 42.17A.495 provides further proof that the processing of the deductions is part of the normal and regular conduct of the District.

When the District processes employee deductions, it does so on a neutral basis, irrespective of the political or religious viewpoints of the employee or the employee's designee. Indeed, the District would be required by RCW 28A.405.400 to make payroll deductions for the benefit of the Foundation itself, should at least ten percent of its employees designate the Freedom Foundation as the payee.

Because these payroll deductions are authorized by state law, they are lawful and thus constitute regular conduct by the District. *See King Cty Council, supra*. Because these deductions are processed for hundreds of employees on a monthly basis, year after year, they constitute normal conduct by the District. Because the processing of payroll deductions constitutes normal and regular conduct, the District's actions do not violate the FCPA. Because no reasonable trier of fact would conclude that the District's processing of employee payroll deductions violates the FCPA, the

trial courts did not err in dismissing the Foundation's complaints.⁸ Thus, the Foundation's petition for review should be denied.

VI. CONCLUSION

Because the Foundation lacks standing and because no reasonable trier of fact would find that the District violated the FCPA, the District requests that this Court deny the petition for review.